B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The following "Findings of Fact" are unsupported by the record: 

Appellant's partner's musicianship affected the children's welfare. 

The children had an unusual number of tardies. 

The tardiness affected the children's academic performance. 

Appellant's conduct or conditions in her home caused fluctuations in 
child's school reports. 

Appellant's anger greatly exceeds the father's. 

Appellant inappropriately managed relationships and issues. 

Appellant's son suffers from "extreme mental health issues." 

Appellant's son is a safety risk to himself or others. 

Appellant's son required a school "safety plan." 

Neutral witnesses endorsed calling 911 and going to ER over a child's 
tantrum. RP 685. 

There is medical support for controlling a child by sitting on his chest. RP 
685. 

There is no evidence the father is still sitting on the boy's chest. RP 685. 

The piano teacher is a neutral witness. 

The mother has problems with relationship issues. 

Preponderance of the evidence supports a finding a substantial change of 
circumstances. RP 686. 

Commuting to Bellevue takes "much longer" from West Seattle than from 
Seattle's Central District. RP 689. 

The 6.9 mile change in the drive affected the children's school 
performance. RP 689. 

The father maintains a more predictable and appropriate schedule for 
children. RP 690. 
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Appellant put her boyfriend's scheduling needs above those of her 

children. RP 690. 

Appellant is self-employed. RP 690. (immaterial). 

Appellant lives with an entertainer. (immaterial) RP 690. 

2. The court did not meet the legal standard for modifying a parenting plan. 

3. The record does not show the essential elements for modification. nor did the 
court find them. 

4. The judge announced the operative findings and instructed counsel to prepare 
them. 

5. The record does not support the findings of fact. 

6. The findings do not support modification. 

7. The court abused its discretion by disregarding the recommendations of the 
GAL. 

8. The court erroneously deemed courtroom demeanor as evidence of parental 
fitness. 

9. The court's hearsay rulings do not conform to the Rules of Evidence. 

1O.The court erroneously denied Appellant's motion to amend. 

11.The court erroneously denied attorney fees. 
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c. Issues Pertainine: to Assie:nments of Error 

1. Are the court's essential findings based on sufficient evidence? 

2. Did the trial court apply the correct legal standard for modification of a 
permanent parenting plan? 

3. Does the evidence establish the essential elements for modification? 

4. When the written findings submitted by the prevailing party do not match 
the findings delivered from the bench in a post-trial hearing convened 
solely for the purpose of delivering the court's decision, do the court's 
findings govern? 

5. Are the court's key findings (oral or written) supported by the evidence? 

6. Are the findings sufficient to support the conclusions and to empower the 
court to modify an existing permanent parenting plan? 

7. Where the GAL's recommendation to deny modification is compelled by 
the independent experts' evaluations, may the trial court disregard the 
GAL's report?\ 

8. May the court consider the parties' courtroom demeanor when 
determining the modification factors? 

9. Did the court's erroneous evidentiary rulings prejudice Appellant by 
subjecting her to multiple hearsay? 

10. Where Appellant's motion to amend her response was based solely on the 
evidence developed pretrial and did not prejudice the other party, do the 
court rules and principles of judicial economy require the court to grant 
the motion? 

11. Did the court erroneously deny Appellant's attorney fees without 
considering the inordinate difference between Appellant's need and the 
father's ability to pay? 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Laura McCabe and Jonathan Arras married in 2002 and separated 

in 2009. RP 22, 25 1 • On May 6, 2010, the court entered a permanent 

parenting plan for their children, Jared (born July 10, 2003), and Allegra 

(born June 26, 2006). Ex.1 . The father did not appeal the parenting plan. 

On March 2, 2012, the children's school principal called Child Protective 

Services (CPS) to report suspicions she shared with the school 

psychologist that the father was abusing Jared.2 RP 428. After CPS 

interviewed both children, the father began documenting abuse allegations 

against the mother. RP 35,36,37,38,40,41,42,46. 

In August, 2012, the father petitioned for a major modification of 

the 2010 parenting plan. CP 1-4. He alleged that new, unforeseen 

circumstances were jeopardizing the children's health and welfare. Id. 

Specifically, he alleged that Ms. McCabe had physically abused and 

neglected their children because she had become domestically violent, 

drug-addicted, and mentally ill. CP 1-4; RP 11-12. 

When he filed the petition, Mr. Arras appeared before the ex parte 

bench and requested an immediate Temporary Restraining Order (TRO) to 

protect the children from their mother. [Ex. 7; RP 288] The commissioner 

granted the TRO on Thursday, August 2, 2012 at 2: 10 pm. Id. Then, he did 

nothing for five days: the children remained with their mother untilAugust 

I The Report of Proceedings is in four continuously numbered volumes designated RP. 

2 The father believed the mother made the CPS report (Ex. 120, RP 431), but she had nothing to do with it. RP 535. 
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6 at 8:00 pm, when he finally picked up the kids and served her the court 

documents. Ex. 7 3 

Ms. McCabe denied all allegations. CP 11-12; CP 16-22; Sub. 154 

[Supp. CP]. 

A family court commissioner ordered a Guardian Ad Litem (GAL) 

investigation. RP 294. The court entered temporary orders eliminating the 

children's overnight stays with their mother, and assigned a visitation 

supervisor to monitor the mother's custody. Id. The court ordered an 

independent psychiatric examination, drug testing, and domestic violence 

assessments for Ms. McCabe, and the matter was set for trial. Ex.19. Ms. 

McCabe cooperated fully with these evaluations and restrictions 4. Id. 

A bench trial was held July 18 - 20, 2013. The expert evaluators 

unanimously and unambiguously agreed that all allegations (drug use, 

mental illness, child abuse, neglect, and domestic violence) against Ms. 

McCabe were wholly unfounded. Ex. 16, 22; Ex. 25 at 3, 237; RP 310. 

Supporting a comprehensive report by an independent psychiatrist5, Dr. 

Dean Ishiki MD testified that he had treated Ms. McCabe for depression 

since 2009, and that she kept a regular patient schedule and unfailingly 

took medication as prescribed. RP 418, 421. Dr. Ishiki testified that he was 

3 August 6, 2012 was the parties' defunct 10th wedding anniversary, and also Ms. McCabe's 40th birthday. CP 11-12 

4 Ms. McCabe was required to pay out-of-pocket for the domestic violence and psychiatric assessments performed 
by experts selected by the GAL.RP 21. A full hair-follicle drug scan was performed. RP 237 

5 Tye Hunter, MD, selected by the Guardian ad Litem, performed the independent exam. 
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never concerned about Ms. McCabe's ability to parent, and would have 

promptly reported any concerns to CPS, had they ever arisen. RP 420-21. 

The GAL's interim report stated that the children very much 

wanted to be with their mother, and recommended that the residential 

schedule set forth in the original parenting plan should be resumed during 

the modification challenge. Ex.19; RP 234. In her [mal report, the GAL 

recommended that the residential provisions of the existing parenting plan 

should not be modified. Ex. 25; RP 235. The father conceded on the record 

that the GAL recommended maintaining the residential provisions of the 

2010 plan. RP16; See, Ex. 25. 

Because conflict rendered joint decision-making impractical, the 

GAL recommended the father as sole decision-maker. 6 Ex. 25. The GAL 

did not address whether the father had created conflict by filing (and 

maintaining) an action based upon false allegations. RP 245. The GAL did 

not question the label of "combativeness" the father's attorney gave the 

mother for challenging false accusations through due process. CP 192. 

On July 19, 2013, after a four-day trial, the court announced its 

findings of fact and conclusions of law. RP 683. The court found that Ms. 

McCabe clearly loved her children and was bonded to them. RP 684. Mr. 

Arras had not established any of the prerequisite factors for modifying a 

6 Evidence emerged at trial that the GAL engaged in ex parte communication with the father's lawyer, but not with 
the mother's. RP 234. 
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long-standing parenting plan, and the court found no statutory basis for 

restricting the mother's custody.ld. 

Nevertheless, the court concluded that a preponderance of 

evidence supported a finding of a "substantial change of circumstances" -

not based upon the debunked allegations that underpinned the father's 

petition - but rather when the mother and her long-term boyfriend moved 

from the Central District to West Seattle in July, 2010. RP 691. 

Moving forward with a modification, the court ignored the GAL's 

recommendations and changed both the residential and decision-making 

provisions of the original plan. RP 691; CP 193-201. The court gave all 

authority over the children's healthcare, education, and extra-curricular 

activities to the father, and reduced the mother's overnight visits from ten 

per month to four. RP 671; CP 193-201. The court cited excessive 

tardiness as its rationale for eliminating 70 of the children's overnight 

visits with their mother per year. 7 RP 671. 

The court instructed counsel to prepare written orders reflecting the 

bench findings. RP 683. After the prevailing party delayed for several 

months, the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were finalized on 

October16, 2013. CP 187-192; RP683. 

The mother filed this timely appeal. CP 202-18. 

7 The record showed that the children had been tardy to school only once the previous semester. There was no record 
of concern or comment by school administrators or teachers regarding tardiness or absenteeism. RP 606 
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E. ARGUMENTS 

1. THE LEGAL STANDARD FOR MODIFYING A PARENTING 
PLAN WAS UNMET. 

This Court reviews the rulings underlying a permanent parenting 

plan for abuse of discretion. In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 39, 

46,940 P.2d 1362 (1997); In re Marriage of Kovacs, 121 Wn.2d 795,801, 

854 P.2d 629 (1993). Review of a trial court's interpretation of a statute is 

de novo. In re Marriage of Watson, 132 Wn. App.222, 230, 130 P.3d 915 

(2006). 

The court's subject matter jurisdiction over parenting plan 

modifications is statutory; it derives solely from the Dissolution of 

Marriage Act, RCW 26.09. In re Marriage of Moody, 137 Wn.2d 979, 

987,976 P.2d 1240 (1999). Modification of a parenting plan is statutorily 

prescribed by RCW 26.09.260, and "compliance with the statute is 

mandatory." In re Marriage of Tomsovic, 118 Wn. App. 96, 103, 74 P.3d 

692 (2003)(citing Bower v. Reich, 89 Wn. App. 9, 14,964 P.2d 359 (1997). 

RCW 26.09.260(1) is unambiguous: 

"Except as otherwise provided [in inapplicable subsections 8], the court 
shall not modify a prior custody decree or a parenting plan unless it finds, 
upon the basis of facts that have arisen since the prior decree or plan, that 
a substantial change has occurred in the circumstances of the child or the 
nonmoving party and that the modification is in the best interests of the 
child and is necessary to serve the best interest of the child." 

8 RCW 26.09.101 applies unless the modification does not reduce residential time by more that 24 days per year; or 
the change of residence makes permanent plan impractical; or the non-moving parent has not exercised existing 
residential rights. RCW 26.09.260 (4), (5), (6) and (8). Here the mother lost 70 overnights per year; her relocation 
was under 7 miles, and fully exercised her parenting rights. Thus, RCW 26.09.101 applies. 
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Unambiguous statutory language must be enforced in accordance 

with its plain meaning. State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 

201 (2007); State v. Marohl, 170 Wn.2d 691, 699, 246 P.3d 177 (2010). 

The Separation of Powers doctrine precludes the courts from ignoring the 

legislative dictates of a statute without first finding that the statute is 

unconstitutional. Robertson v. Robertson, 113 Wn. App. 711, 715, 54 P.3d 

708 (2002). RCW 26.09.260 is not an exception to the principles of 

statutory construction. Tomsovic, 118 Wn. App. 96, 106. 

At one time, Washington courts relied solely on their equity 

jurisdiction to determine the "best interests" of the child. In re Parentage 

o/L.B., 155 Wn.2d 679, 701, n.18, 122 P.3d 161 (2005)(citing authorities). 

However, the Legislature clarified Dissolution of Marriage Act to state, 

"[T]he best interest of the child is ordinarily served when the existing 
pattern of interaction between a parent and child is altered only to the 
extent necessitated by the changed relationship of the parents or as 
required to protect the child from physical, mental, or emotional harm." 
RCW 26.09.002.9 

Only after making the essential finding of changed circumstances 

may the court exercise its discretion to decide how much the change 

affects the children's welfare and opt to modify the plan, accordingly. 

Klettke v. Klettke, 48 Wn.2d 502,506,294 P.2d 938 (1956). The court may 

consider only conditions that affect the children's welfare. Schuster v. 

Schuster, 90 Wn.2d 626, 630, 585 P.2d 130 (1978)(quoting RCW 

9 Effective date Jan. 1,1988. RCW 26.09.912. 
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26.09). Modification of a plan's non-residential provisions (e.g. decision 

making) also requires a change of circumstances. RCW 26.09.260(10). 

The statutorily prescribed procedures to modify a parenting plan 

are mandatory. In re Marriage of Shryock, 76 Wn. App. 848, 852, 888 P.2d 

750 (1995); In re Marriage o/Stern, 57 Wn. App. 707, 711, 789 P.2d 807, 

review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1013, 797 P.2d 513 (1990). Failure to make 

findings on each relevant factor is error. Id. (citing Shryock at 852). 

Like Mr. Arras, the father in Shryock petitioned for a change in 

residential placement under RCW 26.09.260(2)(b), but the court found he 

had not met his burden. Shryock, 76 Wn. App. at 849-50. As the court did 

here, instead of dismissing the petition, the Shryock Court went ahead and 

modified the plan anyway. Id. at 852. On appeal, Division Three held that 

the court lacked authority to make these changes after finding there was no 

statutory basis for modifying the parenting plan under RCW 26.09.260. 

Shryock, 76 Wn. App. at 851-52. 

A court has abused its discretion where its decision (i) is outside 

the range of acceptable choices, given the evidentiary facts and the 

applicable legal standard; (ii) relies on findings unsupported by the record, 

or (iii) is based on untenable reasons, an incorrect standard, or the facts do 

not meet the requirements of the correct standard. Littlefield, 133 W n.2d at 

47. All three of these apply, here. 

16 Laura McCabe 
5260 18th Ave. SW, Seattle, WA 98106 



By misrepresenting the legal standard for modification as (i) the 

best interests of the children and (ii) changed circumstances, Mr. Arras 

may have misled the court by exaggerating and misstating the court's 

discretion. RP 18. Whatever the reason, the court has erred: it failed to 

apply the applicable legal standard, abused its discretion, and made 

changes outside the range of acceptable choices, given the facts. 

2. THE RECORD DOES NOT SHOW THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS 
FOR A MODIFICATION, NOR DID THE COURT FIND THEM 

(a) Substantial Change of Circumstances. 

The court has discretion to modify a parenting plan only where 

there are substantially changed circumstances, but it may not consider 

conditions that do not directly affect the children's welfare. Schuster, 90 

Wn.2d at 630; RCW 26.09.260(1). Residential circumstances are relevant 

solely to the extent that they "directly and significantly" affect the 

children's welfare. Klettke, 48 Wn.2d at 506. Specifically, the court must 

find that the present environment is "detrimental to the child's physical, 

mental, or emotional health and the harm likely to be caused by a change 

of environment is outweighed by the advantage of a change to the child." 

RCW 26.09.260(2)(c); Schuster, 90 Wn.2d at 630. Stability of children's 

environment is of utmost concern. Id.at 628. 

Even a substantial change is not material unless it adversely affects 

the children. Tomsovic, 118 Wn. App. at 107, discussing Selivanoff v. 

Selivanoff, 12 Wn. App 253, 529 P.2d 486 (1974). The court needs 
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evidence upon which to conclude that the children's environment under a 

parenting plan is detrimental to their welfare, and that the benefits of 

undermining the stability of their parental relations outweigh the alleged 

harm that will result by preserving the status quo. In re Marriage of 

Velickoff, 95 Wn. App. 346, 353, 968 P2.d 20 (1998). 

No evidence was presented that the mother's 2010 move (from a 

basement apartment in the Central District to a house in West Seattle) 

adversely affected her children.lO Yet, after the father's statutory claims 

evaporated, the court claimed discretion to modify on the basis of a 6.9 

mile move. The court also seemed to pin its discretion on the uncontested 

fact that the mother's long-term live-in boyfriend is a musician. ll Neither 

the move, nor the observation about Ms. McCabe's partner, constitutes a 

substantial, previously unconsidered, or material fact. 

Ms. McCabe had no idea and no reasonable notice that a 6.9 mile 

move could potentially open the door to a loss of significant custodial 

time, a $70,000 modification trial and the elimination of her decision-

making rights over her children's health care and education. 

(b) Arisin~ Subsequent to the Existing Plan. 

Changes of circumstances must postdate the existing plan. RCW 

26.09.260(1); RP 10. Relocation ofa parent is a changed circumstance that 

10 the move did not change the children's school, which is in Bellevue. Ex. 28; Ex 112. 

II The undisputed facts in the record showed that both their co-habitation and and his musicianship were established 
before the original parenting plan was drafted. 
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.. 

may justify a minor modification, but only if the original parenting plan 

did not anticipate relocation. In re Marriage of Tomsovic, 118 Wn. App. 

96, 106, 74 P.3d 692 (2003); Hoseth, 115 Wn. App. at 572-73. Here, as in 

Tomsovic, a change of residence within King County did not make the 

residential plan impractical to follow. See, 118 Wn. App. at 107 Here, the 

mother's move from a small apartment to a larger single-family home, six 

weeks after her divorce, child support, and custody were finalized, could 

be reasonably anticipated by the father and the original court. 

A finalized residential plan is res judicata regarding all issues as 

determined upon conditions then existing. Sweeny v. Sweeny, 48 Wn.2d 

872, 876, 297 P.2d 610 (1956) (custody order). It remains binding unless 

and until a material change in circumstances justifies a modification in the 

interest of the children's welfare, "subsequent to the entry of the last 

custody order." Brim v. Struthers, 44 Wn.2d 833, 835, 271 P.2d 441 

(1954). 

Children have a strong interest in finality. In re Parentage of 

Jannot, 149 Wn.2d 123, 127-28, 65 P.3d 664 (2003). Because the 

"emotional and financial interests affected by such decisions are best 

served by finality," the challenger bears the heavy burden of showing a 

manifest abuse of discretion. In re Marriage of Landry, 103 Wn.2d 807 

699 P.2d 214 (1985), 103 Wn.2d at 809. Children have the right to have 

their interests "definitely and finally determined in the decree which 
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dissolves the marriage." Little v. Little, 96 Wn.2d 194 

634 P.2d 498 (1981). 

Accordingly, a trial court "does not have the authority to modify 

even its own decree in the absence of conditions justifying the reopening 

of the judgment." In re Marriage of Thompson, 97 Wn. App. 873, 878, 

988 P. 2d 499 (1999) (emphasis added) citing RCW 26.09.170. The courts 

maintain a strong presumption against modifying permanent parenting 

plans because changes in the residential provisions are so highly disruptive 

to children. Halls, 126 Wn. App. at 607. 

Mr. Arras testified that the concerns in his petition predate the 

dissolution. RP 9. Regarding his alleged concerns that Ms. McCabe was 

harming their children in 2009-2010, the judge interrupted to confirm that, 

"this was all prior to the dissolution, right?" then dismissed it as 

immaterial ("we shouldn't be focusing on that"). RP 9-10. 

Mr. Arras conceded at the outset of the trial that the psychological 

evaluation, drug testing, and the GAL's evaluation all refuted the 

"problems" he had alleged. RP 11. He conceded that whatever mental

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