#### NO: 71152-1-I

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

Jonathan J. Arras, Respondent,

and

Laura G. Arras (nka McCabe), Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY HONORABLE LAURA INVEEN KING COUNTY NO: 09-3-04793-0

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Goddard Wetherall Wonder, PSC

Brook A. Goddard, WSBA #31789 Attorney for Respondent 155 108<sup>th</sup> Avenue NE, #700 Bellevue, WA 98004 (425) 453-9200



#

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

#### II. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

Trial court decisions made with respect to modification or adjustment of a parenting plan are discretionary, with the court on appeal applying the abuse of discretion standard. In re Marriage of McDole, 122 Wn.2d 604, 859 P.2d 1239 (1993). The family law statutes confer a great deal of discretion upon trial courts, with the trial court simply required to 1) determine the legally relevant factors upon which to make a discretionary decision, 2) find facts relevant to the legally relevant factors, and then 3) exercise discretion based upon its findings. In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 39, 47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997).

The appellate court will not overturn the trial court's findings of

fact that are supported by substantial evidence; that is "evidence sufficient to persuade a rational fair-minded person that a finding is true." Casterline v. Roberts, 168 Wn. App. 376, 381, 284 P.3d 743 (2012); see also Beeson v. Atlantic-Richfield Co., 88 Wn.2d 499, 503, 563 P.2d 822 (1977) (an appellate court will not ordinarily substitute its judgment for that of the trial court even if it might have resolved the factual dispute differently). Even if there are errors, the appellate court won't reverse a trial court decision unless the error materially affected the outcome or involved an important issue of procedural justice. Capen v. Wester, 58 Wn.2d 900, 902, 365 P.2d 326 (1961); see also In re Marriage of Landry, 103 Wn.2d 807, 809-10, 699 P.2d 214 (1985) (trial court decisions in dissolution actions are affirmed unless no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion).

B. The Trial Court Properly Met the Legal Standard for Modifying a Parenting Plan by Determining the Legally Relevant Factors Upon Which to Make its Decision, Finding the Relevant Facts, and Then Exercising its Discretion Based Upon its Findings (response to Ms. McCabe's arguments 1, 2, and 6).

Ms. McCabe contends in her brief that "Like Mr. Arras, the father in *Shryock* petitioned for a change in residential placement under RCW 26.09.260(2)(b), but the court found he had not met his burden." Page 16. There was no claim in this case under RCW 26.09.260(2)(b).

The claim was under RCW 26.09.260(1), RCW 26.09.260(2)(c), RCW 26.09.260(4), RCW 26.09.260(5), and RCW 26.09.260(10), as will be discussed one at a time in the sections below. Moreover, contrary to the second argument section of Ms. McCabe's Appellate Brief, all of the extensive discussion by the trial court in its ruling, and the supportive court record, showed facts indicating a "substantial change of circumstances" that had "arisen since entry of the 2010 parenting plan", and the changes were "material" and impactful on the "children's welfare". Again, the following sections will discuss each of the statutory factors relevant to Mr. Arras' petition for modification of the parties' 2010 parenting plan, as well as the extensive evidentiary support provided at trial for the trial court's findings and conclusions.

#### a. The Statutory Framework of RCW 26.09.260

RCW 26.09.260 provides a number of statutory bases upon which the Court may modify or adjust a parenting plan. For example, RCW 26.09.260(1) provides for modification whenever there is "a substantial change of circumstances" and a modification is "necessary to serve the best interests of the child." In applying this standard, the Court considers if "the child's present environment is detrimental to the child's physical, mental, or emotional health and the harm likely to

be caused by a change of environment is outweighed by the advantage of a change to the child".

Next, RCW 26.09.260(4) provides that the court may "reduce or restrict contact" between a child and the non-primary parent if it finds that the reduction or restriction would protect the best interests of the child per RCW 26.09.191.

Next, RCW 26.09.260(5) provides that the court may adjust a parenting schedule upon a showing of a substantial change of circumstances of either parent or of the child if the change is only a minor change in the residential schedule that doesn't chance the residence that the child is scheduled to reside the majority of the time, and the change is based on the non-primary parent's change of residence.

Last (at least as is relevant to these proceedings), RCW 26.09.260(10) provides that a trial court may modify "non-residential provisions" of a parenting plan (e.g. dispute resolution requirements, allocation of decision making authority, etc) if there has been a substantial change of circumstances of either parent or a child, and the adjustment is in the best interest of a child.

The trial court properly determined the legal framework and

relevant factors it was to consider in making its parenting plan modification decision. It issued lengthy findings of fact and conclusions of law as part of its October 16, 2013 Order re Modification/Adjustment of Parenting Plan, and as part of this Order it expressly discussed and analyzed all of the above legal standards. CP 187 – 192. The trial court actually set out five separate headings under which each relevant subsection of the parenting plan modification statute (RCW 26.09.260 et al) was analyzed and findings were made, as will be discussed below.

#### b. RCW 26.09.260(1) and (2).

First, the trial court discussed RCW 26.09.260(1) and (2)(c) in section 2.2 of the Order re Modification/Adjustment of Parenting Plan, and it then applied the statute to its subsequent findings in this section. Specifically, the court held:

The parties' parenting plan should be modified because a substantial change of circumstances has occurred in the circumstances of the children or the non-moving party (Respondent) and the modification is in the best interest of the children and is necessary to serve the children's best interests. The children's environment under the current Parenting Plan is detrimental to their physical, mental, or emotional health, and the harm likely to be caused by a change in environment is outweighed by the advantage of a change to the children.

CP 187 – 192. The trial court therefore properly noted and followed

the statutory language for a parenting plan modification under RCW 26.09.260(1) and (2)(c).

Following its holding in section 2.2 that Mr. Arras had met his burden under RCW 26.09.260(1) and (2)(c), the trial court issued two pages of facts supporting modification. In the first paragraph, the trial court noted that Ms. McCabe's repeated moves (ultimately ending in West Seattle) had created a longer drive to transport the children to each parent's home and to school in Bellevue, that the children's attendance (and performance) was being significantly affected on days Ms. McCabe was supposed to bring them to school, and that Ms. McCabe was not credible in her excuses about West Seattle bridge problems or how hard it was to get the children ready in the morning. There was a great deal of documentation and witness testimony provided at trial to support these findings, a sampling of which may be found as follows:

- VRP 226: GAL's testimony that her investigation had found that after living in Bellevue (where the children reside and go to school), Ms. McCabe had moved to three different residences in Seattle, with her present residence being in West Seattle.
- VRP 52-53: Mr. Arras' testimony that Ms. McCabe's parenting time resulted in 9 unexcused tardies, or 20% of the time she had them overnight and was responsible for transportation.

- VRP 128: Ms. McCabe's own father's (Michael McCabe) testimony on Mr. Arras' behalf that the children had only been tardy one time since temporary orders had restricted Ms. McCabe's parenting time.
- Exhibit 28: Jared's 3<sup>rd</sup> grade report card shows 4 absences and 8 tardies while 4<sup>th</sup> grade report card (after restriction of Ms. McCabe's parenting time) shows 0 absences and 1 tardy): <u>See also VRP 282-283</u>, Mr. Arras' testimony confirming numbers.
- VRP 606: Ms. McCabe's testimony confirming 4 tardies in the first semester, but seeking to excuse them due to the West Seattle Bridge's "irregular schedule".

In the next paragraph, the trial court next found that Mr. Arras is better able to maintain a more predictable and appropriate schedule for the children than Ms. McCabe. As part of this, the court noted that Ms. McCabe doesn't keep traditional work or sleep hours, her partner has late hours due to his work in the entertainment business that she found important to accommodate, and that these late hours affected the parties' young children and their schooling. There was a great deal of documentation and witness testimony provided at trial to support these findings as well, a sampling of which may be found as follows:

- VRP 52: Mr. Arras' testimony that he attended Jared's school conferences, teach conferences, and curriculum nights but that Ms. McCabe rarely attended, or she showed up very late with an excuse of traffic.
- VRP 195: Testimony by James' Arras (Mr. Arras' father) that the children are doing much better due to greater stability with

Mr. Arras.

- VRP 201: James' Arras' testimony that the children were kept in bed by Ms. McCabe until 10 or 11:00 a.m.
- VRP 275: GAL's testimony that Ms. McCabe's parenting time
  was organized around her boyfriend (Richard Miller)'s late
  work schedule as a musician in the theater and night clubs.
- VRP 490-491: Testimony by Richard Miller (Ms. McCabe's boyfriend) that he gets home from work around 2 or 2:30 a.m.
- VRP 648-49: Ms. McCabe's acknowledgment that she sleeps beyond 11:00 a.m., and that she attends Mr. Miller's late work events.
- VRP 49: Mr. Arras' testimony regarding his volunteering in the children's classes and how exhausted the children were after they stayed overnight at Ms. McCabe's home, which was causing their schooling to suffer (dropping grades and Allegra struggling with reading).
- VRP 278-79: Mr. Arras' testimony about Jared's improvement in his grades in 4<sup>th</sup> grade versus 3<sup>rd</sup> grade, after his residential time with his mother was reduced. See also Exhibit 28.

The trial court next found that since the parties have been following the parenting schedule ordered on the family law motions calendar (a schedule wherein Ms. McCabe had much less time with the children), the children's behavior had substantially improved, as had their attendance at school and their grades, with Jared's improvement in particular being "extraordinary". There was a great deal of documentation and witness testimony provided at trial to support these

findings as well, some of which was itemized in the previous paragraph, but an additional sampling of which may be found as follows:

- VRP 85: Testimony by Janette Harter (therapist) regarding Jared's reduced anger, reduced aggressions towards peers, and improved regulation of his emotions.
- VRP 105-106: Testimony by Jenna Genzale (therapist) regarding the family's "transformation" over the previous year, and Jared and Allegra's improvements.
- VRP 128: Testimony by Michael McCabe (Ms. McCabe's own father) regarding the children doing "so much better" when they have stayed overnight at Mr. Arras' house before school days.
- VRP 150-152: Testimony by Sharon Tani-McCabe (Ms. McCabe's own stepmother) regarding the great improvement in the children in the year following reduction in Ms. McCabe's parenting time.
- VRP 183-184: Testimony by Cynthia Arras (Mr. Arras' mother) regarding Jared's improved success in school over the last year being due to better consistency of schedule with Mr. Arras).
- VRP 195: Testimony by James Arras regarding Jared's marked improvement over that last year.
- VRP 279-80: Testimony by Mr. Arras regarding Jared's improved grades and communication skills since having less time at Ms. McCabe's home.
- VRP 303: Testimony by Mr. Arras regarding Jared's improved behavior, reduced principal office visits, and how his counseling as well as improved rest, nutrition, and consistency with Mr. Arras have contributed to this improvement.

- VRP 349: Testimony by Charlene Harris (DSHS employee and family friend) noting Jared's impressive improvement in his behavior.
- VRP 396-397: Testimony by Mary Miller-Baldwin (family neighbor) regarding how much Jared's behavior has improved.

The trial court next found that, while there were allegations of anger and yelling by both parents, the evidence at trial was clear that Ms. McCabe's improper parenting was far in excess of Mr. Arras'. The court noted witness testimony, Ms. McCabe's demeanor in court and inappropriate escalating anger while testifying that demonstrated that she needs get her own way, and evidence that Ms. McCabe inappropriately manages relationships and issues such that she's been estranged from her own father and mother. There was a great deal of witness testimony provided at trial to support these findings as well, some of which was itemized in the previous paragraphs, but an additional sampling of which may be found as follows:

- VRP 38: Testimony by Mr. Arras that Ms. McCabe slapped a
  full plate of foot out of Jared's hands, shattering it at his feet
  and spraying food all over him, followed by screaming at him
  that she wished he was dead and had never been born.
- VRP 45: Testimony by Mr. Arras that Ms. McCabe grabbed a
  bag of chips out of Jared's hands, threw it out the window of
  their moving car, and slapped him in the face a couple times,
  and her acknowledgement of having slapped Jared before. See

- <u>also</u> VRP 83-84 for testimony by therapist Janette Harter verifying that Allegra reported this incident to her as well.
- VRP 151: Testimony by Ms. McCabe's own step-mother regarding Ms. McCabe being mean, angry, and vindictive.
- VRP 202-203: Testimony by James Arras of verbal abuse of Jared by Ms. McCabe.
- VRP 216: Testimony by the GAL that her investigation had confirmed that Ms. McCabe had hit and slapped Jared, as well as yelled, screamed, and called him names.
- VRP 128: Testimony by Ms. McCabe's own father, Michael McCabe, that Ms. McCabe decision making is usually selfish rather than in the children's best interests.
- VRP 225-26, and 344: Testimony by the GAL that in her investigation she found Ms. McCabe to be selfish rather than focused on the children's best interests, and that Ms. McCabe is relentless in needing to have things her way.
- VRP 344: Testimony by Charlene Harris about Ms. McCabe having a threatening personality.
- VRP 118-119, 123, and 126: Testimony by Ms. McCabe's own father, Michael McCabe, regarding how he was testifying on Mr. Arras' behalf out of concern for his grandchildren, his poor relationship with Ms. McCabe, incidents where Ms. McCabe had ranted and been delusional, and incidents where Ms. McCabe and her mother had serious altercations.
- VRP 142-143: Testimony by Ms. McCabe's step-mother regarding their estranged relationship.
- VRP 342 and 345: Testimony by Charlene Harris regarding Ms. McCabe having an argumentative and childish relationship with Jared and Allegra, and how Ms. McCabe was intimidating to other people and got in their face.

- VRP 354: Testimony by Jennifer Sikavi describing Ms. McCabe and her mother having an uncomfortable altercation at a public pool.
- VRP 425-26: Testimony by Dean Ishiki (Ms. McCabe's own therapist), about Ms. McCabe and her mother not having a good relationship, including periods of not speaking to each other.

The trial court next found that Mr. Arras and Ms. McCabe are unable to make joint decisions, noting that Jared was suffering from such extreme mental health and behavioral issues that he was a safety risk to himself and others, but that Mr. Arras was unable to get Jared treatment for over 18 months due to Ms. McCabe's instigating conflicts and putting up roadblocks to prevent treatment for both children. The court noted testimony from neutral witnesses in this regard, including by Ms. McCabe's own father, as well as clear evidence that Mr. Arras was the parent more receptive to input from professionals regarding parenting strategies and counseling for the children and that he also better followed through. Ms. McCabe's testimony on these issues wasn't credible. In total, the court found that the evidence on these issues was so clear and compelling that if this had been a criminal case the Court would have found beyond a reasonable doubt. In the next paragraph the court went on to discuss how some credibility determinations were necessary in this case and that Mr. Arras was more credible and his testimony was corroborated by other witnesses that one wouldn't expect to be biased towards him (e.g. Ms. McCabe's own father and step-mother, the piano teacher, and the children's counselors). The court also found Mr. Arras' testimony to be more credible than Ms. McCabe's given observations of their respective demeanor in court, with Ms. McCabe being obfuscating and evasive during testimony, including claiming that she didn't even understand simple questions. There was a great deal of witness testimony provided at trial to support these findings as well, some of which was itemized in the previous paragraphs, but an additional sampling of which may be found as follows:

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